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The BBC is inviting teams in India who meet the prerequisite requirements that are 
detailed in Section 1.3.1 of this ITT (the “Suppliers”) to submit a proposal for the 
“Challenge” as outlined in 1.2. Proposals need to be submitted as described below 
(deadline for submission is detailed in Section 1.5). 

 

SECTION 1 – THE BRIEF 

1.1 BACKGROUND 

1.1.1 BBC World Service in India 

The BBC reaches over 320m people globally every week through its range of 
content on TV, radio, online and digital platforms. Its World Service division, which 
already comprises of 37 language services around the world, is undergoing a major 
expansion. 

As part of this, the BBC’s base in New Delhi will become its biggest outside the UK, 
as it builds on existing services in English, Hindi and Tamil to launch TV and digital 
services in Gujarati, Punjabi, Marathi and Telugu.  
 
The BBC has a long and distinguished history in India and in recent years it has 
lead digital innovation in new story formats and platforms, including Crossing the 
Skies 360 video, WhatsApp (during the 2014 Indian Elections) and LINE (with its 
Hindi Service). It is now looking to expand its digital experimentation and 
collaboration in an exciting new project lead by its Connected Studio team.  

Who are Connected Studio? 
As part of the BBC’s Research and Development department Connected Studio, 
provides the inspiration, support and platform to help keep the BBC at the cutting-
edge of online innovation, and a world leader at delivering engaging, digital 
broadcast experiences.  

Who are News Labs? 
BBC News Labs works at the intersection of technology, data and journalism to 
drive innovation specifically for BBC News. Many of their projects are designed with 
the needs of the World Service in mind, such as their multilingual Automated 
Language Tool (ALTO) for fast translation and re-versioning of video content and 
our BBC Mundo Facebook Messenger bot. 

 
 



 

1.2 THE CHALLENGE 
This section describes the challenges that the ideas proposed by the Suppliers 
should address. 

1.2.1 BBC challenge 

The challenge for you is to propose ideas of re-usable technology that, once built 
can help the BBC’s editorial teams produce more relevant content. We are not 
asking you to provide editorial content ideas. 

 
The BBC has identified two overlapping areas that we would like to address. We 
expect your proposal to consider at least one of these themes and demonstrate a 
solution to at least one of the associated questions (in bullet points): 

1. Personalisation 

In such a diverse society, it is increasingly important that we are able to provide 
different types, or even regional variations of the same stories and to enable users 
to receive the content that is most interesting or relevant to them. How might we… 

 

• Serve up content based on geographic location of users within India? 
• Allow users to customise the type of news they receive by both subject and 

depth 
• Create formats that allow us to curate content for unique users (e.g. personal 

magazines)? 
• Aggregate news content and present it in a new way that ensure attribution 

back to the BBC? 
• Serve up different types of content based on habits and routines of users? 
• Use data to learn more about the user and automate the process? 
• Integrate with existing social media networks whilst ensuring attribution back 

to the BBC? 
 

2. Anytime content 

In the age of smartphones and social media, audiences/users have access to 
snackable content whenever and wherever they are. This poses a new set of 
challenges and opportunities. How might we… 

 

• Ensure users are getting the latest breaking news most relevant to them? 



 

• Make time in a user’s day for them to read, listen or watch? 
• Curate collections based around different routines (e.g. morning commute, 

the night shift)? 
• Bookmark content for reading/watching/listening at a later time? 
• Know when in the day we might serve up certain types of content to certain 

users? 
 

Should you or the BBC feel that you have a great idea but are in need of additional 
skill to deliver this (e.g. you may have strong back-end developer skills but require 
creative or UX), we would consider matching you with a partner who filled that skills 
gap. 

 
 

1.2.2 Audience insights 

Who are our audience and what’s important to them? The specific demographic 
that the BBC is targeting is 16–34 year old smart phone users across South Asia.  
 
Recent research from World Service Audiences has identified four needs that are 
expanding in India, especially with younger audiences: 
 

• Inspire me 
• Amuse me 
• Educate me 
• Give me perspective  

 
The research also shows that when it comes to TV, India is a nation of news 
‘nibblers’ wanting breadth, not depth, of news. The rise of digital aggregators like 
Newshunt suggests this instinct is moving to digital platforms too. 
 

 

1.3 WHAT WE ARE LOOKING FOR 

1.3.1 Appropriate Suppliers 

For Suppliers to be considered for this innovation process, they must demonstrate 
through their initial proposal that they meet all the following requirements: 

Supplier structure: 

a) Suppliers must be based in India; 

b) Suppliers must be teams made up of a minimum of 3 people (ideally 
organised as companies). Participating teams who are not organised as a 



 

single legal entity, agree to do so if they are elected and asked to sign a 
contract with the BBC (see contracting principles in Section 4.3.1). Proposals 
submitted on behalf of two individuals or less will not be considered. 

c) We would consider pairing agencies to combine skills (eg. Tech and 
creative/UX). 

 
Supplier capabilities and skill sets: 

d) The people in the Supplier must have the relevant capabilities and skills as a 
team, such as: 

• Audience and challenge understanding 
• Experience and ability to deliver the proposed response. 
• Skills might include front and back-end development, and product 

development (e.g. HTML, CSS, JavaScript). 
• Experience with responsive web-development  
• Experience in integrating with 3rd party software and platforms (if relevant) 

 

1.3.2 The submission process 

To do this Challenge in India, BBC Connected Studio are running a selection 
process for relevant Suppliers of digital innovation services that runs as follows: 

 
1. Suppliers who wish to participate should read this ITT carefully, and if they 

meet the prerequisite requirements as outlined in Section 1.3.1 above they 
need to create and submit an initial proposal as outlined in Section 1.3.3 
(“Initial Proposals”). 
 

2. Submitted initial proposals will be assessed at the BBC’s discretion against 
success criteria (as outlined in Section 1.4) and shortlisted to up to eight, and 
the selected Suppliers will be invited in writing to develop detailed proposals 
as outlined in Section 2 (“Detailed Proposals”). For the avoidance of doubt, 
the terms and conditions of this ITT will continue to apply throughout the 
selection process. 
 

3. Submitted Detailed Proposals will be assessed against the same success 
criteria as outlined in 1.4 and shortlisted to up to two, and the selected 
Supplier(s) may be commissioned to build pilot(s) (subject to contract). 
 



 

4. All the Suppliers will be informed in writing via email whether they are 
successful or not. Successful Suppliers will have to sign a BBC agreement 
as detailed in Section 4.3. 

 

1.3.3 Initial Proposals 

For the initial stage the BBC requires Suppliers to submit an Initial Proposal that is 
no more than three sides of A4 document, submitted as a PDF. The Initial Proposal 
will include the following: 

• Name of the team and its members and if the Supplier team is organised as a 
registered legal entity (e.g., company), also the entity’s official name and 
registration number; 

• Supplier’s legal status (e.g., company or other agreement between the team); 
• Overview of the team including skillsets and experience, and a demonstration of 

the ability to meet the minimum requirements in section 1.3.1, contact details 
and links to online biographies where applicable; 

• Minimum of two examples of relevant work; 
• Working title of the proposed idea; 
• Short description of the proposed idea (elevator pitch, one sentence); 
• Longer description of the proposed idea (one or two paragraphs) 

including how this will meet the success criteria as outlined in 1.4; 
• Summary of technologies to be used; 
• Demonstration that the project can be delivered within three months of 

commission; 
• Indicative costs including, at the very least, the total number of days and 

blended day rates. Clear stipulation if further skillsets would be necessary if not 
provided by the Supplier team. 

• You will need to send a PDF version of your Initial Proposal via the Connected 
Studio email: connectedstudio.india@bbc.co.uk  

In addition to the three-page proposal described here, suppliers must also provide a 
signed form of tender as per Section 5 – Form of Tender 

For the avoidance of doubt, incomplete proposals may be disqualified at the BBC’s 
sole discretion. 

1.3.4 What do we want? What don't we want? 

The BBC are looking for new innovative digital concepts that help increase the BBC 
mobile audience to a young (16-34) smartphone user across South Asia, 



 

addressing and building on the themes described in Section 1.2.  
 
We do want:  

● re-usable tools that allow BBC journalists and producers to add new content 
when required.   
● Web-based solutions that work out of a browser 
● Mobile-first solutions 
● Start small - something that can be made quickly but can also scale where 
necessary, possibly episodic or component based. 
● A working prototype that can be trialled and tested 
● A concept that adds value with a way which become part of the users’ daily 
digital routine 
● Approaches that embrace and are built with modern web technologies 
● An interface that is easy for audiences to understand and interact with  
● Solutions that offer value for money to the end user, especially solutions that 
consider ways to minimise data consumption 
● Ideas that build on social media behaviours to create shared and 
participative experiences for the target audience, eg. Shareable with chat apps 
● Great design – the interface or call to action for your experience must be 
easy for audiences to understand 
● Approaches that embrace and are built with modern web technologies 
● Concepts that use BBC GEL design patterns where possible:  

o http://www.bbc.co.uk/gel 
o http://www.bbc.co.uk/gel/guidelines/how-to-design-infographics 

 
We don't want: 

● Editorial content ideas 
● Ideas that rely on native applications to work. Concepts should be able to 
live in existing web-pages or as responsive web-pages 
● New hardware based solutions 
● Bespoke solutions for one off stories that cannot be repeated or scaled 
● Something that cannot be made for mobile interaction 
● Something built with bespoke or native platform technologies that isn’t 
portable or would cause conflict integrating with BBC systems in future 
● Something that cannot be made for a wide audience of mobile users 
● Reversioning of recent marketing successes by BBC or others unless 
demonstrating a clear innovation beyond what is already possible 
● Something we are unlikely to be able to pilot with our audiences within four 
months 

 
 



 

1.4 HOW INITIAL PROPOSALS WILL BE 
JUDGED 

Proposals will be judged on the following: 

• The ability to demonstrate an adequate capability and experience from within 
the Supplier team 

• A proposed idea that addresses the success criteria as outlined below 

Ideas will be judged against a set of criteria as outlined below: 

Award 
Criteria  

Award Sub-Criteria  Evaluation Question (How the 
BBC will evaluate the 
submission) 

Overarching 
CS criteria 

Innovative in terms of 
audience, content or 
technology 

 

 

Does the idea enable the 
audience to do something they 
would otherwise not? Does it 
deliver content in ways not 
already seen on the BBC, 
explore new technology, or 
utilise existing technology in 
new ways? 

 Offers a means to 
bring the BBC Offer to 
new or younger 
audiences in new and 
exciting ways 

 

 

Does it:  
 • Transforms our mainstream 
services to better appeal to 
younger audiences (16-34)? 
 • Further develop our existing 
services for new Indian 
audiences? 
•   Innovate online to respond to 
the changing media landscape? 

 Offers value for money 
in its delivery 

 

 

Measures include:  
• Practical and achievable 
• Demonstration of ability to 

deliver at proposed cost 
• Cost is within available 

funding 
• Potential cost per user is 

reasonable 
• Risks are in line with 

strategic benefits 



 

• Are there any restrictions in 
the data usage 

 
 Feasible in its 

implementation as a 
pilot product 

 

 

How feasible is this as a pilot 
proposition? Can a pilot be 
developed over a three – six 
month period? Is the idea clearly 
defined and therefore more 
likely to deliver, and does the 
plan look realistic? Is there 
evidence that the proposed 
team have the relevant skills 
and experience for the idea put 
forward?  

Specific 
programme 
criteria 

Mobile-based 
experience for the 
target audience 
described 

 

 

Will the proposition work for a 
South Asian mobile audience 
(16-34)? 

 Demonstrates 
sensitivity to data cost  
 
 

Does the solution offer a value 
for money solution to the end 
user? 

Does the proposal take into 
consideration issues such as 
load speeds? 

 A digital offer that will 
work on web or 
responsive web  

Does the proposition work on 
web and not dependent on a 
native app? 

 Ability to deliver a 
robust digital 
experience 
(relevant to the target 
technology specified: 
mobile)  
 

Does the proposal provide 
confidence that the team 
understands the technology 
sufficiently to deliver the idea? 

 

 Addresses one or  Does the proposal demonstrate 



 

both of the identified 
themes of 
‘Personalisation’ or 
‘Anytime content’ 

a solution to at least one of the 
identified themes and 
questions? 

 Innovation Is the proposal new and 
innovative? 

 

Where the Supplier is trying something completely new an explanation of the 
Suppliers understanding of each of the component parts required is sufficient. 

1.5 TIMETABLE 
The timetable for this process is as follows (stated as time in each Indian region):  

Milestone Date 
Invitation to Tender (ITT) issued Friday 24th November at 17:00 

GMT 
Deadline for response to ITT (Initial Proposals) Friday 8th December at 17:00 

GMT 
Notification of shortlisted Suppliers Friday 15th December at 17:00 

GMT 
Deadline for more Detailed Proposals Friday 22nd December at 17:00 

GMT 
Notification of successful companies Friday 12th January, 2018 
Commencement of work by contracted 
Suppliers (anticipated) 

January, 2018 

Final delivery by contracted (anticipated) April - June 2018 
Target Prototype Launch (anticipated) May - June, 2018 
 

The BBC may seek additional information from Suppliers once Initial Proposals 
have been received; and the Suppliers shall provide such information within the 
time limitations that will be indicated by the BBC. 

These dates may be amended during the process, at the BBC’s discretion. 
Amendments  (will be decided by the BBC) will be made in writing and will be 
published on the Connected Studio Programme Page 
(http://www.bbc.co.uk/connectedstudio/projects/india-service) and notified via email. 



 

1.6 FUNDING AND BUDGET  
No funding, fee or any other type of payment will be provided to Suppliers in 
relation to their Initial Proposals. Funding will be divided into phases: 

a) £1,500 (or 125,000 Indian Rupees, currency exchange rates may fluctuate) 
will be awarded by the BBC to Suppliers who are shortlisted and successfully 
deliver Detailed Proposals. The BBC shall decide whether or not Detailed 
Proposals have been delivered/submitted appropriately in accordance with 
Section 2.1, at the BBC’s sole discretion. 

 
b) Funding for piloting to the Supplier(s) who will sign a contract with the BBC.  

This is not a fixed amount and will vary based on the build and the required 
support structure. Payment will be subject to product cost, progress through 
product development, successful delivery and acceptance by the BBC. As an 
initial approximate guidance, development of a proof of concept may receive 
funding of up to £15,000 per successful pilot (or 1,250,000 Indian Rupees, 
currency exchange rates may fluctuate).  

SECTION 2 – WHERE SUPPLIERS 
ADVANCE TO DETAILED PROPOSALS 
Where Suppliers are shortlisted to provide Detailed Proposals they will be notified in 
writing by the BBC. The BBC will pay the Supplier the award for successful delivery. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the amount of the award in Section 1.6 (a) is a fixed 
amount that will be paid to the Supplier and it will not be paid for each member of its 
team. 

2.1 GUIDELINES FOR DETAILED 
PROPOSALS 

These guidelines are for the Detailed Proposals that shortlisted Suppliers will be 
invited to complete. Prior to undertaking the work Suppliers will be required to sign 
a Detailed Proposal Agreement that will be issued once a Supplier has been 
engaged and agrees to undertake the full Detailed Proposal. 

The Detailed Proposal should fulfil the following: 

A. Format 



 

The Detailed Proposal should be submitted as PDF and be 5-10 sides of A4 plus 
appendices as required to illustrate the idea that was proposed in the Initial 
Proposal in more detail.  

B. Deadline 

The deadline for submitting the Detailed Proposals is in accordance with the 
timetable in Section 1.5. 

C. How to send 

You will need to send a PDF version of your Detailed Proposal via the Connected 
Studio email: connectedstudio.india@bbc.co.uk  

D. Details 

We will require the Detailed Proposal to include, as a minimum, the following details 
given here: 

1. Names and roles of key members of the project team. 

2. Project scope – an overview of what is to be included in the experience to 
be built. 

3. Audience – who is the target audience for this idea? 

4. Platforms and devices – which platforms will be supported (e.g. devices, 
browsers etc). 

5. Use of BBC editorial approach – a concise description of the editorial 
proposition and the approach to delivery  

6. Technical approach – including a description of your build and production 
techniques  

7. Innovation – what is innovative about this idea?  

8. Audience insight – what should we expect to learn from the audience, and 
how should this be tested? 

9. Practical insight – what should we expect to learn about delivering this type 
of project e.g. about the technology or about the processes required to 
deliver it 

10. Out of scope – a description of any features, functionality or support that 
have been specifically declared out of scope for this pilot.  



 

11. Assumptions – any important assumptions that the work is based on.  

12. BBC dependencies – any specific support, assets, or services that the 
project relies on that are to be provided by the BBC, and approximately when 
they are required (e.g. at kick-off, or prior to commencement of a particular 
sprint/work package).  

13. Detailed list of deliverables – including a breakdown of the important 
activities/tasks associated with each. For example Design, 4 days should 
indicate specific components e.g wireframes, designs & finished assets etc.  

14. Milestones and timescales – this should give an indication of how the work 
is to be approached, what will be achieved/delivered at the end of each 
milestone, and an approximate date of completion for each.  

15. Risks – details of any important risks that have been identified, their impact, 
and a mitigation strategy.  

16. Costs – a cost breakdown for each of the important activities/tasks 
associated with the deliverables. The estimate should make clear the 
estimated number of days of effort, and the day rate for each of the relevant 
roles (e.g. UI designer, web developer, project manager). 



 

SECTION 3 – WHERE SUPPLIERS 
ADVANCE TO PILOT BUILD 
Where a Detailed Proposal is successful and the BBC decides to commission a 
prototype to be built, the supplier must sign a BBC Pilot Agreement to deliver the 
following deliverables to the BBC: 

3.1 DELIVERY OF PILOT BUILD 
• Design, (iterative) development and delivery of a fully-working prototype build of 

the concept detailed within the Detailed Proposal as agreed between the BBC 
and the Supplier. This may include (and not limited to): 

o Wireframes, UX, and other designs for sign off during development 
o Details of IPR used in or for the prototype build 
o All versions of the prototype for sign off during development, including 

source and object software code 
o Technical Specification document, detailing the specific technical 

deliverables and methods used to develop the prototype 
o Documentation to support prototype roll-out and potential future 

development 
o Delivery of a progress report on activities, tasks completed, time 

remaining and blockers to the BBC Connected Studio as defined at kick 
off 

• The Supplier(s) shall host the application themselves during development prior 
to transfer to Connected Studio AWS hosting environment 
 

Note that one of the primary ways we test prototypes on audiences is through our 
web platform BBC Taster (see www.bbc.co.uk/taster). As a result, prototype builds 
will need to include some Taster related components, e.g. analytics, legal and 
cookie warnings, etc.. 
 
More information on stages and timelines is set out in Section 1.5. 

3.2 LAUNCHING AND TESTING THE PILOT 
In addition to local user testing, one of the primary ways the BBC test prototypes at 
scale with audiences is through the web platform BBC Taster which is available 
world wide (see www.bbc.co.uk/taster). It is anticipated that most of the prototypes 
we commission through this Challenge will be made live to the public via BBC 



 

Taster. BBC Connected Studio are currently working with the Taster team on ways 
to best utilise this as a route to South Asian audiences. 

 

3.3 OUT OF SCOPE 
• Development into full production at this stage 
 

3.4 RESPONSIBILITIES AND 
DEPENDENCIES  

3.4.1 BBC  

During the innovation piloting process the BBC will provide the supplier(s) the 
following (at the BBC’s sole discretion): 
• Guidance around Editorial, Technical and Design requirements  
• Support the supplier with requests for more information and facilitation of 

engagements where reasonably possible 
• Review all deliverables and provide feedback in a timely manner 
• Clear briefings on deliverables as required 

3.4.2 Contracted Supplier 

The Supplier(s) the BBC decides to sign a contract with, will create and provide the 
following (as will be furthered detailed in the contract): 
• Deliverables in accordance with the BBC’s requirements 
• Project Management approach inline with BBC’s requirements 
• Management of transfer of assets to the target release environment where 

required 
• Design and technical documentation 
• Relevant Compliance security information where necessary (for sign off by the 

BBC’s Information Security department) 
• Regular communication with BBC Connected Studio, which shall include: 

o Project progress meetings or calls, as agreed 
o Status reports 

 



 

3.4.3 3rd Party Delivery Support  

Where the BBC decide to utilise a 3rd party to support the delivery of pilots, 3rd party 
support may include: 

• Supporting teams in resourcing required skillsets e.g. Project Management, 
Development, Design & UX 

• Usability, UX and audience testing 
• Market Insights 

3.4.4 Project Management Methodology 

We prefer a design-oriented product development approach, where versions of 
products are presented to target users, and developed according to their feedback.  

When outlining the project management approach Suppliers should include their 
roadmap for multiple stages/iterations of development.  

Note consulting and support may be provided to contracted Supplier teams at the 
BBC’s discretion as outlined in 3.4.3 

3.4.5 BBC Contracting Principles 

This call will be subject to a standard BBC Connected Studio Pilot Development 
Agreement that will be made available as part of the next stage of the shortlisting 
process. 
 

1.   

2.   

3.   

4.  

  



 

SECTION 4 – IMPORTANT 
INFORMATION 
4.1 How to Submit the Tender 

4.1.1 Please complete the relevant parts of this Tender (as outlined Section 1 
– The Brief and Section 5 – Form of Tender). Only information asked for 
and submitted as part of the bid will be evaluated. Failure to provide all 
requested information may result in rejection of a tender or no/low marks 
being attributed during evaluation to the relevant element(s) of a 
proposal. 

4.1.2 PDF versions of all proposals must be submitted via the email address: 
connectedstudio.india@bbc.co.uk. For parts of the tender requiring a 
signature and a tenderer is unable to submit a scanned version of the 
document, Suppliers will need to contact the BBC via the email address.  

4.1.3 This ITT is not a contract. However, the information contained in this ITT, 
together with the Detailed Proposals of the successful Suppliers(s) will 
form the basis of the Contract.  

4.1.4 Except for the fixed award that will be paid in accordance with 1.6 (a) to 
elected Suppliers who successfully deliver a Detailed Proposal, 
proposals are submitted entirely at the tenderer’s (Supplier’s) own risk 
and the BBC will not be liable for any costs incurred. The BBC accepts 
no responsibility for non-receipt. Suppliers are strongly advised to submit 
their Proposals well in advance of the deadlines for response to ITT 
stated in Section 1.5 of this document to avoid the possibility of 
difficulties caused by unforeseen network or transmission problems. 

4.1.5 All attachments submitted should be in PDF format.  

4.1.6 All Proposals and parts of responses or any other communication with 
the BBC in relation to this ITT must be in English. 

4.2 Further information 

4.2.1 If Suppliers have any queries or need clarification they need to use the 
email offered (connectedstudio.india@bbc.co.uk) at least 2 working days 
before the deadline for response to ITT. In the interests of fair 
competition, while the sources of questions will be treated as confidential, 
where it is appropriate to share details of the BBC’s responses, 



 

questions and responses will be published an accessible on the 
Connected Studio Website. 

4.3 The Contract  

4.3.1 BBC Contracting Principles 

Tenderers should carefully review the BBC’s Contracting Principles set 
out in this ITT. The draft BBC Connected Studio Pilot Development 
Agreement will regulate and protect your IP creations as follows: 

Pre-existing Intellectual Property Rights 

All pre-existing Intellectual Property is and shall remain with its creator 
(that is, the BBC and you, as the case may be). Your IP shall be licensed, 
not assigned, to the BBC for use in the pilot. 

Resulting IPR 

Each party (the contracted Supplier and the BBC) will own all Intellectual 
Property in the Resulting IPR it develops  

Each party will licence, not assign, its respective rights for the Pilot  

BBC Option Period and Future Developments 

The BBC will have the first option to develop a Pilot to be beta-tested 
(e.g. on BBC Taster). Upon commissioning the Pilot the BBC may 
exercise a further option to fund and commission a full product, subject 
to further agreement on the development.  

Insurance 

The BBC may require contracted Suppliers to have the insurance during 
the development of a prototype in place for any contract for goods or 
services. This may include: 

a) Public Liability Insurance (including Product Liability Insurance)  
b) Professional Indemnity Insurance (including Technology E&O) 
c) Workers Compensation/Employers Liability 
d) Products Liability Insurance 

 
Each policy shall be reviewed ahead of contract award.  

Suppliers will not be penalised for failing to have adequate at the 
proposal evaluations stage.  



 

4.4 Confidentiality and Freedom of Information 

4.4.1 All information contained in this ITT should be treated as “Commercial in 
Confidence” by Suppliers.  

4.4.2 Please be aware that the BBC is required to comply with the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (“FOIA”). If Suppliers would like further information 
on FOIA and how it impacts suppliers then consult our ‘Supplying the 
BBC’ section of the BBC website at: www.bbc.co.uk/foi. 

4.5 Tender Validity 

4.5.1 Proposals must remain open for acceptance for at least 60 days from 
their submission deadline. A tender valid for a shorter period may be 
rejected. 

4.6 Modification and Withdrawal 

4.6.1 The BBC may modify this ITT at any time prior to the deadline for receipt 
of proposals. We will notify amendments via email and via the website at 
http://www.bbc.co.uk/connectedstudio/projects/india-service. To allow 
time for such amendment to be taken into account, the BBC may, at its 
discretion, extend the deadlines for receipt of Proposals. 

4.6.2 Suppliers may modify and re-submit proposals any number of times prior 
to the applicable deadline for receipt. No proposal may be modified after 
the deadline for receipt. 

4.6.3 Suppliers may withdraw their proposal at any time prior to accepting 
notification of award of a Contract by sending a notice via the email 
(connectedstudio.india@bbc.co.uk). Following withdrawal of a proposal, 
Suppliers must delete all copies of this ITT and associated 
documentation provided by the BBC which are stored electronically and 
on request will provide confirmation to the BBC that such action has 
been taken. 

4.7 The BBC’s Right of Acceptance and Rejection 

4.7.1 The BBC reserves the right to accept or to reject any proposal/tender 
and to annul the tender process and reject all Suppliers at any time prior 
to award without incurring any liability to the affected Suppliers. 

4.7.2 The BBC is not obliged to award a contract and it can withdraw from 
discussions at any stage.  



 

4.7.3 The BBC reserves the right to accept part of a tender only unless the 
tenderer expressly stipulates otherwise in its tender. 

4.7.4 Any proposal received at the designated point after the submission 
deadline may be rejected. 

4.8 Use of BBC Trade Marks 

Suppliers must not use or reproduce any BBC trade mark or logo or 
otherwise make reference to the BBC without the BBC’s prior written 
consent. 

4.9 Conflict of Interest 

Suppliers should notify the BBC as soon as reasonably possible if they 
consider there to be a conflict of interest. 

4.10 Inducement 

Offering an inducement of any kind in relation to obtaining this or any 
other contract with the BBC will disqualify your tender from being 
considered and may constitute a criminal offence. 

  



 

SECTION 5 – FORM OF TENDER 
To the British Broadcasting Corporation: 

1. I agree that by submitting a tender I am doing so on behalf of myself and 
on behalf of the team members identified below who gave me written 
their consent for this purpose, and that if we progress and our Detailed 
Proposal is elected by the BBC, the BBC will contract with a single entity 
only. 

2. I agree that any contract that may result from this tender shall be subject 
to English Law with exclusive jurisdiction of English courts.  

 

Signed: ..........................................................................................................................  

Name: ............................................................................................................................  

In the capacity of: ..........................................................................................................  

Duly authorised to sign tenders for and on behalf of: 

 .......................................................................................................................................  

Postal address:  .............................................................................................................  

 .......................................................................................................................................  

Telephone number: .......................................................................................................  

Email address: ………………………………………………………………………………. 

Date:  .............................................................................................................................  


